
 

 
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION   
Washington, DC  20463 

      October 6, 2022 
 
VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 
Jason Torchinsky, Esq. 
Matthew Petersen, Esq. 
Holtzman Vogel Baran Torchinsky & Josefiak PLLC 
2300 N Street, NW, 643-A 
Washington, DC 20037 
jtorchinsky@holtzmanvogel.com 
mpetersen@holtzmanvogel.com 
     
       RE: MUR 7965 

     
Dear Mr. Torchinsky and Mr. Petersen: 
 
 On March 3, 2022, the Federal Election Commission notified your client, Saving Arizona 
PAC and Janna Rutland in her official capacity as treasurer, of a complaint alleging violations of 
certain sections of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.  A copy of the 
complaint was forwarded to your client at that time.   

 On September 28, 2022, based upon the information contained in the complaint and 
information provided by you, the Commission voted to find no reason to believe that Saving 
Arizona PAC and Janna Rutland in her official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30122 
by knowingly accepting a contribution made in the name of another and closed the file in this 
matter.  A copy of the Factual and Legal Analysis, which more fully explains the basis for the 
Commission’s decision, is enclosed.  

 Documents related to the case will be placed on the public record within 30 days.  See 
Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702 
(Aug. 2, 2016).  If you have any questions, please contact Aaron Rabinowitz, the attorney 
assigned to this matter, at (202) 694-1476 or arabinowitz@fec.gov. 
  
       Sincerely, 
 
 
 
       Mark Allen 
       Assistant General Counsel   
Enclosure: 
Factual and Legal Analysis 
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RESPONDENTS: Iho Araise LLC MUR: 7965 6 
Saving Arizona PAC and Janna Rutland in her 7 
   official capacity as treasurer 8 
Unknown Respondents 9 

10 
I. INTRODUCTION 11 

This matter was generated by a Complaint filed with the Federal Election Commission 12 

(the “Commission”), which alleges violations of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as 13 

amended (the “Act”), relating to allegations that one or more unknown individuals used Iho 14 

Araise LLC as a conduit to make contributions on their behalf to Saving Arizona PAC and Janna 15 

Rutland in her official capacity as treasurer (“Saving Arizona PAC”).  The Response on behalf of 16 

Iho Araise LLC asserts that it was created as a part of the long-term estate planning of two 17 

individuals, Arjun Sethi and Harshita Pant, and that at the time Iho Araise LLC made the 18 

contributions at issue it had only received income from a venture capital firm that Sethi is a 19 

general partner of and had not received funds from either Sethi or Pant.  The Response also 20 

attaches a declaration from Sethi representing the same.  The Response on behalf of Saving 21 

Arizona PAC states that it accurately reported the contribution from Iho Araise LLC because it 22 

amended its report — weeks before the Complaint was filed — to attribute the contribution to 23 

Iho Araise LLC as well as Sethi and Pant as partners pursuant to 11 C.F.R. § 110.1(e).  24 

The available information does not support the Complaint’s allegations.  Saving Arizona 25 

PAC’s filings attributed Iho Araise LLC’s contribution to both the partnership itself and its 26 

individual partners as required, and Iho Araise LLC’s Response plausibly explains the basis for 27 

the partnership contribution.  The information presented in the Complaint as support for a 28 

conduit scheme — a five-month period between the LLC’s formation and its contribution and the 29 
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lack of an online presence — is insufficient to warrant a finding of reason to believe that a 1 

violation occurred given the length of time at issue and the available information to the contrary.  2 

Accordingly, the Commission finds no reason to believe that Iho Araise LLC and 3 

Unknown Respondents violated 52 U.S.C. § 30122 by making contributions in the name of 4 

another or knowingly permitting their names to be used to effect such a contribution.  The 5 

Commission also finds no reason to believe that Saving Arizona PAC and Janna Rutland in her 6 

official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30122 by knowingly accepting a contribution 7 

made in the name of another. 8 

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 9 

Saving Arizona PAC is an independent expenditure-only political committee that 10 

registered with the Committee on April 19, 2021; its treasurer is Janna Rutland.1  As of its 2022 11 

Pre-Primary Report, it has raised over $16 million and spent over $13 million, including 12 

approximately $10 million in independent expenditures.2 13 

On its original 2021 Year-End Report, Saving Arizona PAC disclosed a $50,000 14 

contribution from Iho Araise LLC that was received on December 30, 2021.3  A few days later, 15 

Saving Arizona PAC amended this report to add a memo entry regarding the contribution from 16 

Iho Araise LLC stating “Contribution: See Attribution Below;” directly underneath the entry for 17 

1 Saving Arizona PAC, Amended Statement of Organization (July 13, 2021); Saving Arizona PAC, Original 
Statement of Organization (April 19, 2021). 

2 FEC, Saving Arizona PAC Financial Summary, FEC.GOV 
https://www.fec.gov/data/committee/C00777185/?tab=summary (last visited Aug. 18, 2022). 

3  Saving Arizona PAC, Original 2021 Year-End Report at 7 (Jan. 31, 2022).   
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the Iho Araise LLC contribution Saving Arizona PAC added two entries disclosing partnership 1 

attributions for Arjun Sethi and Harshita Pant for $25,000 each.4  2 

The Complaint in this matter — which was filed after Saving Arizona PAC amended its 3 

report — alleges that Iho Araise LLC in fact made the contribution to Saving Arizona PAC on 4 

behalf of one or more unknown persons in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30122.5  The Complaint 5 

bases this allegation on the fact that Iho Araise LLC had no public business activity and made its 6 

contribution to Saving Arizona PAC five months after its formation and did so allegedly without 7 

attribution information.6   8 

Iho Araise LLC filed a Response in which it represents that it was formed by Sethi and 9 

Pant as part of a their “long-term estate planning” with the purpose of holding their family assets 10 

and consolidating their future income.7  The Response represents that Iho Araise LLC has been 11 

receiving Sethi’s income and owner’s draw from his position as a general partner of a venture 12 

capital firm since its formation and that Sethi and Pant ultimately intend to transfer other assets 13 

into the entity, but have not done so yet.8  The Response contends that Iho Araise LLC was not 14 

formed for the purpose of masking the source of contributions and that neither Sethi nor Pant 15 

transferred funds into Iho Araise LLC for the purpose of making contributions.9  Documents 16 

4 Saving Arizona PAC, Amended 2021 Year-End Report at 7 (Feb. 7, 2022).  

5 Compl. ¶¶ 1, 13-15 (Feb. 28, 2022). 

6 Id. ¶ 12. 

7 Iho Araise LLC Resp. at 2 (Apr. 8, 2022).   

8 Id. 

9 Id. at 3. 
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attached to the Response indicate that, at the time of its formation, Sethi and Pant each held a 1 

50% ownership interest in Iho Araise LLC.10  The Response also states that, sometime after Iho 2 

Araise LLC was formed, Sethi and Pant transferred a portion of their ownership interest in the 3 

partnership to an irrevocable trust that they also created.11  Sethi also attaches a declaration 4 

attesting to the same facts.12   5 

Saving Arizona PAC submitted a Response representing that it initially disclosed the 6 

contribution from Iho Araise LLC without attribution information because it had requested and 7 

not yet received confirmation of the LLC’s tax status.13  It therefore reported the contribution 8 

without that information, stating in the memo line that attribution information had been 9 

requested, and then filed an amended report to disclose the attributions.14  Saving Arizona PAC 10 

contends that the original report did not violate any Commission regulation because the 11 

committee did not have attribution information at the time but had diligently sought that 12 

information and thereafter timely provided it in an amended report.15   13 

III. LEGAL ANALYSIS14 

The Act provides that a contribution includes “any gift, subscription, loan, advance, or 15 

deposit of money or anything of value made by any person for the purpose of influencing any 16 

10 Id. at Ex. A, Schedule A.   

11 Id. at 2.  The Response does not state whether this occurred before or after Iho Araise LLC’s contribution 
to Saving Arizona PAC. 

12 Arjun Sethi Decl. (Apr. 7, 2022).   

13 Saving Arizona PAC Resp. at 1-2 (Apr. 15, 2022).   

14 See Saving Arizona PAC, Original 2021 Year-End Report at 7; see also supra nn. 3-4 and accompanying 
text. 

15 Saving Arizona PAC Resp. at 1-2. 
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election for Federal office.”16  The term “person” for purposes of the Act and Commission 1 

regulations includes partnerships, corporations, and “any other organization or group of 2 

persons.”17  The Act prohibits a person from making a contribution in the name of another 3 

person, knowingly permitting his or her name to be used to effect such a contribution, or 4 

knowingly accepting such a contribution.18  The Commission has included in its regulations 5 

illustrations of activities that constitute making a contribution in the name of another: 6 

(i) Giving money or anything of value, all or part of which7 
was provided to the contributor by another person (the true8 
contributor) without disclosing the source of money or the9 
thing of value to the recipient candidate or committee at the10 
time the contribution is made; or11 

(ii) Making a contribution of money or anything of value and12 
attributing as the source of the money or thing of value13 
another person when in fact the contributor is the source.1914 

The requirement that a contribution be made in the name of its true source promotes 15 

Congress’s objective of ensuring the complete and accurate disclosure by candidates and 16 

committees of the political contributions they receive.20  Courts therefore have uniformly 17 

rejected the assertion that “only the person who actually transmits funds . . . makes the 18 

16 52 U.S.C. § 30101(8)(A). 

17 Id. § 30101(11); 11 C.F.R. § 100.10. 

18 52 U.S.C. § 30122. 

19 11 C.F.R. § 110.4(b)(2)(i)–(ii). 

20  United States v. O’Donnell, 608 F.3d 546, 553 (9th Cir. 2010) (“[T]he congressional purpose behind 
[Section 30122] — to ensure the complete and accurate disclosure of the contributors who finance federal elections 
— is plain.”) (emphasis added); Mariani v. United States, 212 F.3d 761, 775 (3d Cir. 2000) (rejecting constitutional 
challenge to Section 30122 in light of compelling governmental interest in disclosure).   
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contribution,”21 recognizing that “it is implausible that Congress, in seeking to promote 1 

transparency, would have understood the relevant contributor to be [an] intermediary who 2 

merely transmitted the campaign gift.”22  Consequently, both the Act and the Commission’s 3 

implementing regulations provide that a person who furnishes another with funds for the purpose 4 

of contributing to a candidate or committee “makes” the resulting contribution.23  This is true 5 

whether funds are advanced to another person to make a contribution in that person’s name or 6 

promised as reimbursement of a solicited contribution.24  7 

Because the concern of the law is the true source from which a contribution to a 8 

candidate or committee originates, regardless of the mechanism by which the funds are 9 

transmitted, the Commission will examine the structure of the transaction itself and the 10 

arrangement between the parties to determine who in fact “made” a given contribution.  11 

Accordingly, Section 30122’s prohibition of contributions in the name of another applies to 12 

21 United States v. Boender, 649 F.3d 650, 660 (7th Cir. 2011). 

22  O’Donnell, 608 F.3d at 554; see also Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 371 (2010) (“The First 
Amendment protects political speech; and disclosure permits citizens and shareholders to react to the speech of 
corporate entities in a proper way.  This transparency enables the electorate to make informed decisions and give 
proper weight to different speakers and messages.”); Doe v. Reed, 561 U.S. 186, 199 (2010) (“Public disclosure also 
promotes transparency and accountability in the electoral process to an extent other measures cannot.”). 

23 See Boender, 649 F.3d at 660 (holding that to determine who made a contribution “we consider the giver to 
be the source of the gift, not any intermediary who simply conveys the gift from the donor to the donee”) (emphasis 
added); O’Donnell, 608 F.3d at 550; Goland v. United States, 903 F.2d 1247, 1251 (9th Cir. 1990) (“The Act 
prohibits the use of ‘conduits’ to circumvent [the Act’s reporting] restrictions[.]”). 

24 O’Donnell, 608 F.3d at 555.  Moreover, the “key issue . . . is the source of the funds” and, therefore, the 
legal status of the funds when conveyed from a conduit to the ultimate recipient is “irrelevant to a determination of 
who ‘made’ the contribution for the purposes of [Section 30122].”  United States v. Whittemore, 776 F.3d 1074, 
1080 (9th Cir. 2015) (emphasis in original) (holding that defendant’s “unconditional gifts” to relatives and 
employees, along with suggestion they contribute the funds to a specific political committee, violated Section 30122 
because the source of the funds remained the individual who provided them to the putative contributors). 

MUR796500119



MUR 7965 (Iho Araise LLC, et al.) 
Factual and Legal Analysis 
Page 7 of 8 

LLCs such that an LLC is prohibited from being used as a “straw donor” to transmit the funds of 1 

another but must instead be the true source of any contribution it purports to make. 2 

The available information does not indicate that Iho Araise LLC made the contribution to 3 

Saving Arizona PAC on behalf of others.  The information contained in Saving Arizona PAC’s 4 

Amended 2021 Year-End Report itself appears to comply with the Commission’s regulations — 5 

requiring attribution of contributions by an LLC that is taxed as a partnership — by attributing 6 

the contributions to Sethi and Pant.25  The Complaint does not explain why that information 7 

might be inaccurate, and indeed does not address the attribution information because it appeared 8 

to have been overlooked at the time of the Complaint’s filing.26  The information provided by 9 

Iho Araise LLC and Sethi’s declaration sets forth a valid basis for the LLC’s existence as part of 10 

Sethi and Pant’s long-term estate planning that explains why it would not have an online 11 

presence.  And there is no information indicating that the funds used to make the contribution in 12 

fact belonged to some other individual or individuals and was transferred to Iho Araise LLC for 13 

the purpose of making a contribution.  14 

The Complaint in this matter puts forward circumstantial evidence to contend that Iho 15 

Araise LLC served as a conduit based on the fact that the LLC was formed five months before its 16 

contribution and lacks an online presence.27  While the Commission has considered the lack of 17 

25 Supra nn. 3-4. 

26 On June 29, 2022, the Commission received a letter on behalf of the Complainants requesting that the 
Commission treat the Complaint as withdrawn.  On July 5, 2022, the Office of General Counsel sent a response 
letter stating that the request to withdraw the Complaint will not prevent the Commission from taking appropriate 
action on the Complaint under the Act.  See 52 U.S.C. § 30109. 

27 Compl. ¶ 12. 
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an online presence and a short timeline between formation of an organization and its contribution 1 

probative in conduit contribution cases, the allegations in the Complaint are more temporally 2 

attenuated than the information that the Commission has previously relied on in finding reason to 3 

believe a conduit contribution scheme occurred.  Given the sizeable information to the contrary, 4 

these circumstantial facts are insufficient in the circumstances presented here to warrant a 5 

finding of reason to believe a violation has occurred.    6 

Given the attribution information in Saving Arizona PAC’s filings and the information 7 

about Iho Araise LLC’s purpose put forward in its Response and supported by Sethi’s 8 

Declaration and the other submitted materials, the Commission finds no reason to believe that 9 

Iho Araise LLC and Unknown Respondents violated 52 U.S.C. § 30122 by making contributions 10 

in the name of another or knowingly permitting their names to be used to effect such a 11 

contribution.  The Commission also finds no reason to believe that Saving Arizona PAC and 12 

Janna Rutland in her official capacity as treasurer violated 52 U.S.C. § 30122 by knowingly 13 

accepting a contribution made in the name of another.  14 
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	Article I   DEFINITIONS
	1.1 “Act” means the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act, 6 Del. Code § 18-101 et seq., as amended and in effect from time to time.
	1.2 “Adjusted Capital Account” of a Member means the Capital Account of that Member, increased by any amount that such Member is expressly obligated to restore pursuant to an agreement with the Company or is deemed to be obligated to restore pursuant ...
	1.3 “Affiliate” means with respect to any specified Person, any other Person directly or indirectly (through one or more intermediaries) Controlling, Controlled by or under common Control with such specified Person.
	1.4 “Agreement” means this Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Company, as the same may be amended, supplemented or restated from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof.
	1.5 “AS Member” means Arjun Sethi, an individual.
	1.6 “Bankruptcy” means, with respect to any Person, if (a) such Person (i) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, (ii) files a voluntary petition under title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) or any other similar law for ...
	1.7 “Board” means the board of Board Managers.
	1.8 “Board Consent” is defined in Section 5.1.2.
	1.9 “Board Manager” means any Person designated as such pursuant to Section 5.2.1.
	1.10 “Book Value” means, with respect to any Company asset, the adjusted basis of the Company asset for federal income tax purposes, except as follows:
	(a) The initial Book Value of any Company asset contributed by a Member to the Company shall be the gross fair market value of such Company asset as of the date of such contribution, as determined by the Board;
	(b) The Book Value of each Company asset shall be adjusted to equal its gross fair market value, as determined by the Board, as of the following times:
	(c) The Book Value of a Company asset distributed to any Member shall be the gross Fair Market Value of such Company asset as of the date of distribution thereof as determined by the Board;
	(d) The Book Value of each Company asset shall be increased or decreased, as the case may be, to reflect any adjustments to the adjusted basis of such Company asset pursuant to Sections 732(d), 734(b) or 743(b) of the Code, but only to the extent that...
	(e) If the Book Value of a Company asset has been determined or adjusted pursuant to subparagraphs (a), (b) or (d) above, such Book Value shall thereafter be adjusted to reflect the depreciation or amortization taken into account with respect to such ...

	1.11 “Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banking institutions in San Francisco, California are authorized or required by applicable law to close.
	1.12 “Capital Account” of a Member means the capital account of that Member determined in accordance with Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv) and this Section 1.21.  The Capital Accounts shall be adjusted by the Board upon an event described in T...
	1.13 “Capital Contribution” of a Member means the amount of money and the Fair Market Value on the date contributed of property (net of liabilities assumed by the Company or to which such property may be subject) contributed to the capital of the Comp...
	1.14 “Cause” means, with respect to any Person, conviction of such Person of a felony or a crime involving fraud or a material violation by such Person of a confidentiality obligation such Person has to the Company.
	1.15 “Certificate of Formation” means the Certificate of Formation of the Company filed under the Act with the Delaware Secretary of State on August 12, 2021.
	1.16 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.
	1.17 “Company” is defined in the Recitals.
	1.18 “Company Minimum Gain” with respect to any Taxable Year means the “partnership minimum gain” of the Company with respect to such Taxable Year as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(2) and determined in accordance with Treasury Regulation...
	1.19 “Control” of a Person means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.  “Contr...
	1.20 “Covered Person” and “Covered Persons” are defined in Section 9.1.1.
	1.21 “Distributable Cash” at any time means that portion of the cash then on hand or in accounts of the Company at a bank or other financial institution which the Board determines is available for Distribution to the Members at such time, taking into ...
	1.22 “Distribution” means the transfer of cash or property by the Company to one or more Members with respect to their Interests, without separate consideration.
	1.23 “Effective Date” is defined in the Preamble.
	1.24 “Fair Market Value” of property means the amount that would be paid for such property in cash at the closing by a hypothetical willing buyer to a hypothetical willing seller, each having knowledge of all relevant facts and neither being under a c...
	1.25 “Family Affiliate” means, with respect to any natural Person, (a) any parent, grandparent, sibling or child (including any adopted sibling or child) of such natural Person, or any spouse or former spouse of such Person, or (b) any trust or other ...
	1.26 “Founders” means Arjun Sethi and Harshita Pant, in each case, so long as they remain a Member of the Company.
	1.27 “HP Member” means Harshita Pant, an individual.
	1.28 “Interest” means a Member’s overall interest as a Member of the Company, including, to the extent applicable, the Member’s interest in Profit, Loss, special allocations, Distributable Cash or other Distributions, rights to vote or participate in ...
	1.29 “Interest Rate” means a rate of interest equal to five (5) percentage points above the prime rate of interest as reported in the “Money Rates Section” of The Wall Street Journal (New York edition) from time to time, but not more than the maximum ...
	1.30 “HP Member” means Harshita Pant, an individual.
	1.31 “Member” means each of the Persons listed on Schedule A hereto, and each Person who is hereafter admitted as a Member in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Act, in each case as long as such Person holds Units.
	1.32 “Member Minimum Gain” with respect to a Taxable Year means the “partner nonrecourse debt minimum gain” of the Company with respect to such Taxable Year as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(i)(2) and determined in accordance with Treasury ...
	1.33 “Member Nonrecourse Debt” means the “partner nonrecourse liability” or “partner nonrecourse debt” of the Company as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(4).
	1.34 “Member Nonrecourse Deductions” with respect to a Taxable Year means the “partner nonrecourse deductions” of the Company with respect to such Taxable Year as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(i)(1) and determined in accordance with Treasu...
	1.35 “Member Recourse Deduction” with respect to a Taxable Year means a Company loss or deduction with respect to such Taxable Year that is attributable (under Code Section 704(b) and the Treasury Regulations thereunder) to a Company liability that is...
	1.36 “Nonrecourse Deductions” with respect to a Taxable Year means the “nonrecourse deductions” of the Company with respect to such Taxable Year as defined in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(1) and determined in accordance with Treasury Regulations ...
	1.37 “Percentage” at any time means the percentage that the number of Units owned by such Member at such time bears to the total number of outstanding Units at such time.
	1.38 “Permitted Transferee” means, with respect to each Member, (i) any Family Affiliate of the natural person who Controls such Member, (ii) any Affiliate of such Member, and (iii) any other Member or Affiliate thereof.
	1.39 “Person” means any entity, corporation, company, association, joint venture, joint stock company, partnership (including a general partnership, limited partnership and limited liability partnership), limited liability company, trust, real estate ...
	1.40 “Profit” and “Loss” means, with respect to a Taxable Year, the taxable income and taxable loss, as the case may be, of the Company with respect to such Taxable Year, as determined by the Board in accordance with federal income tax principles, inc...
	1.41 “Proportional Share” means, with respect to each Member, a portion of the Units being Transferred equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (a) the number of Units held by such Member, by (b) the total number of Units held by all Members (includ...
	1.42 “RPAP” means Subchapter C of Chapter 63 of the Code, as amended,  as in effect with respect to partnership taxable years beginning on or after December 31, 2018, together with any Treasury Regulations or other administrative guidance promulgated ...
	1.43 “Securities” with respect to the Company, means limited liability company interests, beneficial interests, warrants, options, notes, bonds, debentures, and other securities, equity interests, ownership interests and similar obligations of every k...
	1.44 “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
	1.45 “Specified Members” is defined in Section 10.6.2(a).
	1.46 “Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person:  (a) any corporation of which more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of all classes of the Securities entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the e...
	1.47 “Substituted Member” means a Person who is admitted to the Company as a member of the Company in place of a Member with respect to Units that are Transferred or an assignee of a Member and who thereafter is named as a Member on Schedule A by amen...
	1.48 “Taxable Year” means the taxable year of the Company selected by the Board in accordance with Section 706 of the Code.
	1.49 “Transfer” means a sale, assignment, transfer, other disposition, pledge, hypothecation or other encumbrance, whether direct or indirect, whether voluntary, involuntary or by operation of law.
	1.50 “Treasury Regulations” means the regulations promulgated by the United States Treasury Department pertaining to the United States federal income tax.
	1.51 “Unit” means a unit of Interest in the Company having the respective rights and obligations set forth in this Agreement.

	Article II
	ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS
	2.1 Name.  The name of the Company shall be “IHO ARAISE LLC” or upon compliance with applicable law, such other name as the Board may determine. The business of the Company shall be conducted under that name.  The Company shall notify the Members of a...
	2.2 Term.  The term of the Company’s existence commenced upon the filing of the Certificate of Formation with the Delaware Secretary of State on August 12, 2021 and shall continue until such time as the Company is terminated pursuant to ARTICLE VIII.
	2.3 Offices.  The principal offices of the Company shall be located at 2700 19th Street, San Francisco, California 94110, or at such other place as the Board may determine from time to time.  The Board shall notify the Members of any change in the pri...
	2.4 Purpose of Company.  The Company shall have the authority to engage in any lawful business, purpose or activity permitted by the Act, and shall possess all of the powers and privileges granted by the Act, together with any powers incidental theret...
	2.5 Intent.  It is the intent of the Members that the Company shall be treated as a “partnership” for federal income tax purposes.  It also is the intent of the Members that the Company not be operated or treated as a “partnership” for purposes of Sec...
	2.6 Members.  The name, physical address, email address, and initial Capital Contribution, as applicable, of each Member are set forth in the books and records of the Company.  The number of Units and Percentage of each Member as of the date hereof is...
	2.7 Agent for Process.  The registered agent for service of process for the Company in the State of Delaware shall be the registered agent named in the Certificate of Formation or such other Person or Persons as the Board may designate from time to time.
	2.8 Qualification.  The Company shall qualify to do business in each jurisdiction where the Board determines that such qualification is required.
	2.9 Units.  The Interests of the Members shall be divided into Units. There shall initially be 10 Units comprising a single class of Units. The Units shall not be certificated.  Each Unit shall entitle its holder to one (1) vote on each matter on whic...
	2.10 Authorized Person.  Arjun Sethi is hereby designated as an “authorized person” within the meaning of the Act to execute, deliver and file the Certificate of Formation.  Upon the filing of the Certificate of Formation, his powers as an “authorized...

	Article III
	CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
	3.1 Capital Contributions.
	3.1.1 Initial Capital Contributions.  The Members have each contributed the initial Capital Contribution amount set forth on Schedule A and the Company has issued to the Members, as applicable, the number of Units set forth opposite their names on Sch...
	3.1.2 No Further Capital Contributions.  No Member shall be required to make any capital contribution or lend money to the Company.  Except as provided in this Section 3.1, no Member may make a capital contribution or lend money to the Company without...

	3.2 Capital Accounts.The Company shall establish and maintain a separate Capital Account for each Member.
	3.3 No Priorities of Members; No Withdrawals of Capital.  Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, no Member shall have a priority over any other Member as to any Distribution, whether by way of return of capital or by way of profits, or as to...
	3.4 No Interest.  No Member shall be entitled to receive any interest on his Capital Contributions or Capital Account.

	Article IV   MEMBERS
	4.1 Resignations.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, no Member may resign from the Company prior to the dissolution and liquidation of the Company.  A Member that resigns in contravention of this Agreement shall not be entitled to any con...
	4.2 Action by Members.
	4.2.1 Power of the Members.  Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, no Member in his, her or its capacity as a Member shall (a) take part in the management of the Company, (b) transact any business on behalf of the Company, or (c) have any ...
	4.2.2 Meetings of Members.  There is no requirement to hold annual or other meetings of the Members.  Meetings of the Members may be called by the Board or by Members holding at least 25% of the Percentage.  Such meetings shall be held at the place, d...
	4.2.3 Notice of Meeting.  At least ten (10) Business Days’ prior written notice shall be given to the Members, as applicable, stating the place, date and time of the meeting, the Person calling the meeting and the purpose for which the meeting is call...
	4.2.4 Action by Consent.  Any action that may be taken by Members at a meeting may also be taken without a meeting, if a consent in writing setting forth the action so taken is signed by Members owning a sufficient total Percentage to take such action...

	4.3 Representations and Warranties of Members.  Each Member represents and warrants to the Company and the other Member as follows:
	4.3.1 Investment.  The Interest issued to the Member is being acquired for investment for the Member’s own account, not as a nominee or agent, and not with a view to or for sale in connection with the distribution thereof.
	4.3.2 Sophistication.  The Member has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the Member’s investment in the Interest; the Member has the ability to bear the economic risks...
	4.3.3 Accredited Investor.  The Member qualifies as an “accredited investor” within the meaning of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act.


	Article V   GOVERNANCE, MANAGEMENT, CONTROL OF THE COMPANY, AND OTHER AGREEMENTS
	5.1 General.
	5.1.1 Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement or as expressly required by a non-waivable provision of the Act, the management of Company shall be vested exclusively in the Board Managers, each of whom shall be a manager within the mea...
	5.1.2 The Company’s affairs shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board, constituted as set forth in Section 5.2.1.  The Board shall act at a meeting by affirmative vote of a majority of the Board Managers, insofar as required as hereinaft...
	5.1.3 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not do any of the following without the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board: (a) amend or modify (including by way of merger, consolidation or otherwise) or waive any ter...

	5.2 Designation, Resignation, and Removal of Board Managers.
	5.2.1 The Board shall initially be comprised of two (2) Persons (each, a “Board Manager”), Arjun Sethi and Harshita Pant.
	5.2.2 Each Board Manager shall hold office for the term for which he or she is elected and thereafter until his or her successor shall have been elected and qualified in accordance with this Agreement, or until his or her earlier death, resignation or...
	5.2.3 Each Member agrees that such Member shall vote all of such Member’s Units and any other voting Securities of the Company over which such Member has voting control and shall take all other actions reasonably necessary or desirable within such Mem...
	(a) so long as the AS Member and his Permitted Transferees continue to hold at least 50% of the Units held by the AS Member as of the Effective Date (after equitably adjusting for Unit dividends, Unit splits and other similar transactions), one (1) Pe...
	(b) so long as the HP Member and her Permitted Transferees continue to hold at least 50% of the Units held by the HP Member as of the Effective Date (after equitably adjusting for Unit dividends, Unit splits and other similar transactions, one (1) Per...

	5.2.4 If, at any time, any Member fails to designate a Board Manager in accordance with Section 5.2.3(a) or (b), as the case may be, such position on the Board shall remain vacant until such Member(s) exercises its right to designate a Manager as prov...
	5.2.5 The AS Manager and the HP Manager may each be removed with Cause by a the Members holding at least a majority of the Units then outstanding, and without Cause only with the prior written consent of the AS Manager or the HP Manager, as the case m...
	5.2.6 Any Board Manager may resign at any time.  Such resignation shall be made in writing and shall take effect at the time specified therein, or if no time be specified, at the time of its receipt by the remaining Board Managers.  The acceptance of ...
	5.2.7 Board Managers shall receive no compensation for services as such, but the Company shall reimburse each Board Manager for reasonable travel and out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with that Board Manager’s personal attendance...
	5.3 Certain Transactions.   To the fullest extent permitted by law, all principal, interest, costs and expenses owing by the Company to the Members, the Board Managers, officers, and/or Affiliates thereof in repayment of loans and all fees, commission...
	5.4 Officers.  The Board may appoint any officers deemed necessary or advisable by the Board, at any time to conduct, or to assist the Board in the conduct of, the day-to-day business and affairs of the Company, and the officers shall have only such p...
	5.5 Books and Records.

	5.5.1 The Company’s books of account, together with a copy of this Agreement and of the Certificate of Formation, shall at all times be maintained at the principal place of business of the Company.  Upon reasonable advance written request, each Member...
	5.5.2 The Company shall maintain all of the following at its principal office, with copies available at all times during normal business hours for inspection and copying upon reasonable notice by any Member or such Member’s authorized representatives,...
	(a) a current list of the full name and last known business, residence or mailing address of each Member;
	(b) promptly after becoming available, a copy of the federal, state and local income tax returns, if any, for each Taxable Year with respect to the Company;
	(c) a copy of this Agreement and any and all amendments thereto, together with executed copies of any powers of attorney pursuant to which this Agreement or any amendments thereto have been executed;
	(d) a copy of the Certificate of Formation and all amendments;
	(e) a current list detailing the amount of cash and statement of the agreed value of any other property or services contributed by each Member to the capital of the Company and which each Member has agreed to contribute in the future, if applicable; and
	(f) the date upon which each Member became a Member.


	5.6 Tax Elections.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein or as required by applicable law, the Company shall make such tax elections as the Board may determine, in its sole discretion.
	5.7 Partnership Representative; Accounting Partner.
	5.7.1 The AS Member shall be designated as the Company’s partnership representative within the meaning of Section 6223 of the Code (the “Partnership Representative”) and Arjun Sethi shall be the initial “designated individual,” as defined in the RPAP,...
	5.7.2 Arjun Sethi shall manage the Company’s bank accounts (if any) on behalf of the Company and shall be responsible for arranging any Distributions to the Members under this Agreement.  Arjun Sethi shall have authority to manage all aspects of the C...

	5.8 Limitation on the Company’s Activities.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Board shall cause the Company to and the Company shall:
	5.8.1 maintain its books and records separate from those of any other Person;
	5.8.2 maintain its accounts separate from those of any other Person;
	5.8.3 not commingle its assets with those of any other Person;
	5.8.4 conduct its own business in its own name and comply with all organizational formalities necessary to maintain its separate existence;
	5.8.5 pay its own liabilities out of its own funds;
	5.8.6 observe limited liability company formalities and other formalities required by its organizational documents;
	5.8.7 not guarantee or become obligated for the debt of any other Person or hold out its credit as being available to satisfy the obligations of any other Person;
	5.8.8 not pledge its assets for the benefit of any other Person or make any loans or advances to any other Person;
	5.8.9 hold itself out as a separate entity;
	5.8.10 correct any known misunderstanding regarding its separate identity;
	5.8.11 maintain financial statements separate from those of the Members and the Affiliates of the Members and maintain its books and records in a manner so that it will not be difficult or costly to segregate, ascertain or otherwise identify its asset...
	5.8.12 not make any loans or other extensions of credit to any Member or any Affiliate thereof; and
	5.8.13 not acquire any equity securities nor any obligations or debt securities of any Member or any Affiliate thereof.
	For the avoidance of doubt, failure of the Company, or any Member or Board Manager on behalf of the Company, to comply with any of the foregoing covenants or any other covenants contained in this Agreement shall not affect the status of the Company as...


	Article VI
	ALLOCATIONS OF PROFIT, LOSS AND DISTRIBUTIONS
	6.1 Allocation of Profit and Loss.  Except as provided in Section 6.2 herein, Profit and Loss (and, to the extent necessary, individual items of income, gain, loss, deduction or credit) of the Company shall be allocated among the Members in a manner s...
	6.2 Special Allocations.
	6.2.1 Loss Limitation.  Loss allocated pursuant to Section 6.1 shall not exceed the maximum amount of Loss that can be allocated without causing any Member to have a deficit in its Adjusted Capital Account at the end of any Taxable Year.  If some but ...
	6.2.2 Minimum Gain Chargeback.  In the event there is a net decrease in the Company Minimum Gain during any Taxable Year, the minimum gain chargeback provisions described in Treasury Regulations § 1.704 2(f) and (g) shall apply.
	6.2.3 Member Minimum Gain Chargeback.  In the event there is a net decrease in Member Minimum Gain during any Taxable Year, the partner minimum gain chargeback provisions described in Treasury Regulations § 1.704 2(i) shall apply.
	6.2.4 Qualified Income Offset.  In the event a Member unexpectedly receives an adjustment, allocation or Distribution described in Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), (5) or (6), which adjustment, allocation or Distribution creates or incr...
	6.2.5 Nonrecourse Deductions.  Nonrecourse Deductions shall be allocated to the Members in proportion to their respective Percentages.
	6.2.6 Member and Nonrecourse Deductions.  Member Nonrecourse Deductions shall be allocated to the Members as required by Treasury Regulations § 1.704-2(i)(1).
	6.2.7 Curative Allocations.  The allocations set forth in Sections 6.2.1 through 6.2.6 (the “Regulatory Allocations”) are intended to comply with certain requirements of the Treasury Regulations.  It is the intent of the Board of Managers that, to the...

	6.3 Section 704(c) Allocation. Each Member’s allocable share of the taxable income or loss of the Company, depreciation, depletion, amortization and gain or loss with respect to any contributed property, or with respect to a revaluation of Company pro...
	6.4 Distributions.
	6.4.1 In General.  The Company shall make Distributions of property or Distributable Cash at such times and in such amounts as the Board may determine.  Any amount of Distributable Cash or other Distributions that are distributed under this Section 6....
	6.4.2 Limitations on Distributions.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, a Member may not receive a Distribution to the extent that, at the time of the Distribution, after giving effect to the Distribution, (a) all liabilities of the Comp...

	6.5 Form of Distribution.  No Member has the right to receive any Distribution from the Company in any form other than money.  No Member may be compelled to accept from the Company a Distribution of any asset in kind in lieu of a proportionate Distrib...
	6.6 Amounts Withheld.  Any amounts withheld with respect to a Member pursuant to any federal, state, local or foreign tax law from a Distribution by the Company to the Member shall be treated as distributed to such Member pursuant to Section 6.4 or 8....

	Article VII    TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS
	7.1 In General.  Except as otherwise provided in this ARTICLE VII (it being understood that a transfer in compliance with any of the foregoing is hereby expressly permitted), no Member may Transfer any of such Member’s Units without the prior written ...
	7.2 Further Restrictions on Transfers; Exception.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, in addition to any other applicable restrictions on a Transfer, no Unit may be transferred:  (i) without (A) compliance with the Securities A...
	7.3 Permitted Transfers.  A Member may transfer any or all of the Units held by it to any of his Permitted Transferees without complying with the provisions of this Article VII other than Section 7.1; provided that (i) such Permitted Transferee shall ...
	7.4 Right of First Refusal.
	(a) Offer.  At least thirty (30) days prior to any proposed Transfer of Units by any Member, other than any Transfer to a Permitted Transferee in compliance with Section 7.3, such transferring Member (the “Transferring Member”) shall deliver a notice ...
	(b) Company Election. The Company may elect to purchase all or any portion of the Offered Units at the price and on the other terms set forth in the Offer Notice, by delivering notice of such election to the Transferring Member and each Eligible Membe...
	(c) Member Election.  If the Company does not elect to purchase all of the Offered Units, then each Eligible Member may elect to purchase up to such Eligible Member’s Proportional Share of the Offered Units at the price and on the other terms set fort...
	(d) Closing.  If the Company and/or the Eligible Members have elected to purchase all of the Offered Units from the Transferring Members, such purchase shall be consummated as soon as practicable after the delivery of the election notice(s) to the Tra...
	(e) No Election.  Subject to the terms of Section 7.5, if the Company and/or the Eligible Members do not elect to purchase all of the Offered Units from the Transferring Member, the Transferring Member shall have the right, within ninety (90) days fol...
	7.5 Tag-Along Rights.
	(a) Participation Right and Election.  If any Offered Units are not purchased pursuant to Section 7.4 and thereafter are to be sold to the potential Transferee(s) specified in the Offer Notice, the Transferring Member shall give each other Member who ...
	(b) Participation Conditions.  With respect to any contemplated Tag Along Sale, the Transferring Member shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the agreement of the prospective Transferee(s) to the participation of the Electing Members in ...
	(c) Authorized Period to Sell.  Prior to the earlier of (i) the end of the applicable Election Period or (ii) the acceptance or rejection by such Other Member to become an Electing Member, the Transferring Member will not complete any sale of Units to...

	7.6 Enforcement.  The restrictions on Transfer contained in this Agreement are an essential element in the ownership of a Unit.  Upon application to any court of competent jurisdiction, the Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, includ...
	7.7 Dissolution of a Member.  The dissolution or other cessation to exist as a legal entity of a Member shall not, in and of itself, dissolve the Company.  In any such event, if such Member ceases to be a Member, the personal representative (as define...
	7.8 Recognition of Assignment by Company.  No Transfer of any Unit, or any part thereof or interest therein, that is in violation of this ARTICLE VII shall be valid or effective, and neither the Company nor the Board shall recognize the same for the p...

	Article VIII   DISSOLUTION AND WINDING UP
	8.1 Dissolution.  The Company shall be dissolved, its assets disposed of and its affairs wound up upon the first to occur of the following:
	8.1.1 a determination by the Board, and of Members holding Interests representing at least 75% of the total Percentage of all Members, to dissolve the Company;
	8.1.2 the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company following approval of the Board and of Members holding Interests representing at least 75% of the total Percentage of all Members; or
	8.1.3 the entry of a judicial decree of dissolution of the Company pursuant to the Act.

	8.2 Date of Dissolution.  Dissolution of the Company shall be effective on the day on which the event occurs giving rise to the dissolution, but the Company shall not terminate until its assets have been liquidated and distributed as provided herein. ...
	8.3 Winding Up.  Upon the occurrence of any event specified in Section 8.1, the Company shall continue solely for the purpose of winding up its affairs in an orderly manner, liquidating its assets, satisfying the claims of its creditors, and distribut...
	8.4 Liquidating Distributions.  The Company’s assets, or the proceeds from the liquidation thereof, shall be applied in cash or in kind in the following order:
	8.4.1 to creditors (including Members who are creditors (other than on account of their Capital Accounts)) to the extent otherwise permitted by applicable law in satisfaction of all liabilities and obligations of the Company, including expenses of the...
	8.4.2 to the establishment of such reserves for contingent liabilities of the Company as are deemed reasonably necessary by the Board (other than liabilities for which reasonable provision for payment has been made and liabilities for Distribution to ...
	8.4.3 to Members and former Members in satisfaction of any liabilities for Distributions under Section 18-601 or 18-604 of the Act; and
	8.4.4 to the Members in accordance with their Percentages.

	8.5 Distributions in Kind.  Any non-cash asset distributed to one or more Members (whether or not in liquidation) shall first be valued at its Fair Market Value as determined by the Board to determine the Profit, Loss and special allocations that woul...
	8.6 No Liability.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, upon a liquidation within the meaning of Treasury Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(g), if any Member has a deficit Capital Account balance (after giving effect to all contributions, Di...
	8.7 Limitations on Payments Made in Dissolution.  Each Member shall be entitled to look only to the assets of the Company for Distributions to be made to such Member or the return of that Member’s positive Capital Account balance, and no Member, Board...
	8.8 Certificate of Cancellation.  Upon completion of the winding up of the Company’s affairs, the Company shall file a Certificate of Cancellation of the Certificate of Formation with the Delaware Secretary of State.  The Company shall also file such ...

	Article IX    LIMITATION OF LIABILITY; STANDARD OF CARE; INDEMNIFICATION
	9.1 Exculpatory Provisions
	9.1.1 None of the Board Managers, any officer, any Member, or any Affiliate of any of them, nor any of their respective officers, directors, shareholders, partners, members, managers, employees, representatives or agents, nor any officer, employee, re...
	9.1.2 A Covered Person may rely in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, bond, debenture, paper, document, signature or writing reasonably believed b...

	9.2 Indemnification of Covered Persons.
	9.2.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Company shall indemnify and hold harmless each Covered Person from and against any and all losses, claims, demands, liabilities, expenses (including all legal fees and expenses, taxes and penalties), j...
	9.2.2 A Covered Person shall not be entitled to indemnification under this Section 9.2 with respect to any claim, issue or matter in which he or it has engaged in conduct that constitutes fraud, willful misconduct or bad faith; provided, however, that...
	9.2.3 To the fullest extent permitted by law, expenses (including legal fees) incurred by a Covered Person in defending any claim, demand, action, suit or proceeding shall, from time to time, be advanced by the Company prior to the final disposition o...
	9.2.4 The indemnification provided by this Section 9.2 shall be in addition to any other rights to which a Covered Person may be entitled under any agreement, by law or otherwise, both as to action in the Covered Person’s capacity as a Board Manager, ...
	9.2.5 The Members may authorize and cause the Company to purchase and maintain insurance, to the extent and in such amounts as the Members shall deem reasonable, on behalf of the Covered Persons and such other Persons as the Members shall determine, a...
	9.2.6 In no event may any Covered Person subject the Members to personal liability by reason of any indemnification of a Covered Person under this Agreement.
	9.2.7 A Covered Person shall not be denied indemnification in whole or in part under this Section 9.2 because the Covered Person had an interest in the transaction with respect to which the indemnification applies if the transaction is otherwise permi...
	9.2.8 The provisions of this Section 9.2 are for the benefit of the Covered Persons and their heirs, successors, assigns, administrators and personal representatives and shall not be deemed to be for the benefit of any other Persons.

	9.3 No Board Manager Fiduciary Duties.
	9.3.1 To the maximum extent permitted by the Act, a Board Manager who is not a full-time employee of the Company shall not owe any duties (including fiduciary duties) to the Members or to the Company.  Such Board Managers may engage in or possess any ...
	9.3.2 Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, if a Board Manager who is not a full-time employee of the Company acquires knowledge, other than solely from or through the Company, of a potential transaction or matter that may be a bus...
	9.3.3 For the avoidance of doubt, a Board Manager shall not be deemed to have violated a duty or obligation to the Company because his or her conduct furthers the interests of its appointing Member and no Member has a duty or obligation to consider an...

	9.4 No Member Fiduciary Duties. Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement to the contrary, to the maximum extent permitted by the Act, no Member shall owe any duties (fiduciary duties or otherwise) to any other Member or to the Company.
	9.5 Non-Exclusivity.  The provisions of this ARTICLE IX shall not be construed to limit the power of the Company to indemnify the Board Managers, the Members, or officers, employees, or agents thereof to the fullest extent permitted by law or to enter...

	Article X   MISCELLANEOUS
	10.1 Amendments.  No amendment to this Agreement shall be valid or effective unless in writing and executed by all of the Members.
	10.2 Notices.  Any notice or other communication (collectively, “notice”) to be given to the Company, any Member or the Board in connection with this Agreement shall be in writing and will be deemed to have been given and received (a) on the date deli...
	10.3 Waiver.  No course of dealing or omission or delay on the part of any party hereto in asserting or exercising any right hereunder shall constitute or operate as a waiver of any such right.  No waiver of any provision hereof shall be effective, un...
	10.4 Governing Law; Jurisdiction.  This Agreement shall be governed by, construed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to choice or conflict of laws principles that would result in the applicat...
	10.5 Equitable Remedies.  Each party hereto acknowledges that a breach or threatened breach by such party of any of its obligations under this Agreement would give rise to irreparable harm to the other parties, for which monetary damages would not be ...
	10.6 Arbitration.  All claims, controversies or disputes arising under or in connection with this Agreement, between or among the Members (and their respective employees, officers, directors, managers, attorneys, and other agents), whether sounding in...
	10.6.1 Administrator.  The arbitration of all Covered Claims shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") pursuant to its commercial dispute resolution rules then then in effect.  Any award of the Arbitrator shall be final and...
	10.6.2 Arbitrator.  The arbitration shall be conducted by a single, neutral arbitrator (the "Arbitrator"), to be selected as follows:
	(a) within seven (7) Business Days from service of an arbitration complaint, the Members involved in the Covered Claim (the “Specified Members”) shall endeavor in good faith to agree upon an Arbitrator; and
	(b) failing such agreement under subparagraph (a) above, the Specified Members shall ask AAA to supply the Specified Members with a list of no less than seven arbitrators (all of whom shall disclose and clear any potential conflicts) having no less th...

	10.6.3 Interim, Provisional or Emergency Relief.  The Arbitrator may, in the course of the proceedings, order any interim, provisional or emergency relief, remedy or measure (including, without limitation, attachment, preliminary injunction, or the de...
	10.6.4 Excluded Claims.  The term "Covered Claims" as used in this Agreement does not include compulsory or permissive cross-claims between or among the Specified Members that arise in a legal action brought by or against a non-signatory hereto (the "...
	10.6.5 Record and Proceedings.  A full stenographic or electronic record of all proceedings in the arbitration shall be maintained.
	10.6.6 Res Judicata, Collateral Estoppel and Law of the Case.  A decision of the Arbitrator shall have the same force and effect with respect to collateral estoppel, res judicata and law of the case that such decision would have been entitled to if de...
	10.6.7 Enforcement of Award.  Each Member agrees that the other Members have the right to confirm any arbitration award granted pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any award granting equitable relief, and to otherwise enforce th...
	10.6.8 Confidentiality.  All arbitration proceedings shall be closed to the public and confidential, and all records relating thereto shall be permanently sealed, except as necessary, and only to the extent reasonably necessary, to obtain court confir...
	10.6.9 Fees and Costs.  The Specified Members shall share equally in the fees of the Arbitrator and the administrative costs of the arbitration.

	10.7 Severability.  The provisions hereof are severable and in the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be determined to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions her...
	10.8 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement.
	10.9 Further Assurances.  Each party hereto shall promptly execute, deliver, file or record such agreements, instruments, certificates and other documents and take such other actions as the Board may reasonably request or as may otherwise be necessary...
	10.10 Assignment.  Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement, and any right, interest or obligation hereunder, may not be assigned by any party hereto without the prior written consent of each other party hereto.  Any purported assignment wi...
	10.11 Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns.
	10.12 No Third Party Beneficiary.  This Agreement is not intended, and shall not be deemed, to create or confer any right or interest for the benefit of any Person not a party hereto other than Covered Persons pursuant to Article IX.
	10.13 Titles and Captions. The titles and captions of the Articles, Sections and Schedules of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and do not in any way define or interpret the intent of the parties or modify or otherwise affect any of...
	10.14 Construction. This Agreement shall not be construed with a presumption against any party by reason of such party having caused this Agreement to be drafted.
	10.15 Usage.  References in this Agreement to “Articles,” “Sections,” and “Schedules” shall be to the Articles, Sections, and Schedules of this Agreement, unless otherwise specifically provided; all Schedules are incorporated herein by reference; any ...
	10.16 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, and the other agreements attached as Exhibits or Schedules hereto, constitute the entire understanding and agreement among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior a...
	10.17 Waiver of Partition.  Each Member hereby waives and renounces any right that such Member may have to institute or maintain an action for partition with respect to any property of the Company.
	10.18 Waiver of Dissolution Rights.  The Members acknowledge and agree that irreparable damages would occur if any Member should bring an action for judicial dissolution of the Company.  Accordingly, each Member hereby waives and renounces any right s...
	10.19 Consents and Approvals.  Any consent or approval sought pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned.
	10.20 Confidentiality.  All books, records, financial statements, tax returns, and budgets of the Company, all other information concerning the business, affairs and properties of the Company and all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement, and ...
	IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Members have executed this Agreement, effective as of the date first written above.
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